IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 2 1996

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, et al.,

Appellants,

VS.

CASE NO. 89,325

ROBERT VANMETER,

Appellee.

On Mandatory Review from the District Court of Appeal First District of Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 333646

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL--PL 01 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-9935

Counsel for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The First DCA declared §95.11(8), Florida Statutes, to be "an unconstitutional violation of the doctrine of separation of powers" (slip op., p. 1; App. A hereto), and thus facially unconstitutional. Under Art. V, §3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution, and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), this Court must review the decision below.

In October 1993, Appellee Vanmeter was disciplined for the infraction of lying to staff, (R 15,725; R 69). Over-simply, Vanmeter claimed one of his law books was lost when he was transferred to a different prison. After he was compensated, the book was found in his possession. Upon a hearing, he received 60 days of disciplinary confinement, and lost 60 days gain time. (R 15,725; R 71).

Vanmeter took his first administrative appeal on the merits, to the superintendent of the prison, but was denied relief. (R 15,726; R 73) Similarly, his second administrative appeal, to the Secretary of the Florida Department of Corrections (DOC), was unsuccessful on the merits. The Secretary denied relief on March 2 1, 1994. (R 15,727; R 75).

Effective June 15, 1995, Section 95.11(8), Florida Statutes (1995) imposed a 30-day time limit for an inmate to commence a challenge to prison disciplinary

1

Citations to the record (R [page no.]) are those used before the First DCA.

proceedings. The 30 days began running upon denial of relief by the Secretary of DOC. See §§2 & 61, ch. 95-283, Laws of Florida.

On September 27, 1995--roughly 18 months after the Secretary denied relief--Vanmeter filed a "Petition for a Writ of Mandamus" in the Leon County Circuit Court. (See index to record on appeal from trial court, first entry.) The petition (R 1-93) sought restoration of the gain time and expungement of the disciplinary infraction.

Upon the trial court's order to show cause (R 101), DOC asserted the petition was barred by §95.11(8), but did not respond to the merits of the petition. (R 102-107) The trial court dismissed on this ground alone. (R 108-109).

Vanmeter contested application of §95.11(8) on several constitutional grounds, including separation of powers (R 1 10-116), which were rejected upon denial of his motion for rehearing. (R 120-1) He appealed to the First DCA, which held §95.11(8) facially violated separation of powers. (App. A)

The First DCA issued its opinion on October 30, 1996. DOC filed its notice of appeal on November 12, 1996.

è

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 95.1 l(S), Florida Statutes (1995) is a narrowly tailored statute of limitation. It sets a 30 day deadline for commencing inmate challenges to prison disciplinary proceedings under ch. 944, Florida Statutes and ch. 33, Florida Administrative Code. Consequently, §95.11(8) assumes the prior occurrence of an adversarial disciplinary hearing and exhaustion of two administrative appeals on the merits.

Case law establishes that judicial review of DOC disciplinary hearings is through a petition for writ of mandamus. Such petition, however, is far more akin to a complaint found in any other civil cause. Under Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.630 expressly treats the "initial pleading" as a "complaint" from the outset, If the petition demonstrates minimal legal sufficiency, it functions as a complaint for all purposes. Therefore, the extraordinary writs nominally contemplated by Rule 1.630 are not writs in substance, but complaints typical to civil causes of action.

Section 95.1 1(8) operates very narrowly--only against inmate challenges to prison disciplinary proceedings. An inmate seeking a writ has already had an adversarial, evidentiary hearing and two plenary reviews on the merits; again indicating that inmate petitions are not the same as extraordinary writs historically.

Under these facts, it does not violate separation of powers for the Legislature to impose a reasonable statute of limitation.

Rule 1.630(c) provides that "complaints shall be filed within the time provided by law." [e.s.] Through this language, this Court has deferred to the Legislature to set time limits when necessitated by public policy. Section 95.1 1(8) does exactly that. The statute, having been authorized by rule of this Court, cannot violate separation of powers.

Issue II: Adoption of Rule

Regardless of whether this Court holds §95.1 1(8) violates separation of powers, the deadline it imposes represents sound public policy. Should this Court be inclined to affirm the First DCA's decision, DOC respectfully requests this Court to adopt a comparable 30 day deadline as an amendment to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.630 and 9.100. Alternatively, this Court could declare that inmate challenges to disciplinary must be brought as petitions for certiorari under Rule 1.630.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE 30-DAY DEADLINE IN §95.11(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, FOR CHALLENGING PRISON DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS CIRCUMSCRIBES THE COURTS' CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE WRITS AS HISTORICALLY UNDERSTOOD

A. Standard of Review

By holding §95.11(8), Florida Statutes (1995) facially violates separation of powers, the First DCA answered a question of law. Review of questions of law is plenary. See Coleman v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc., 5 17 So.2d 686, 690 (Fla. 1988) ("The question of the extent of coverage under the insurance policy in this case is a question of law and is therefore subject to plenary review.").

Since this Court's review is plenary, there is no presumption that the lower court was correct. To the contrary, the challenged statute is still presumed constitutional:

when an appellate court has occasion to pass upon the validity of a statute after a trial court has found it to be unconstitutional, the statute is favored with a presumption of constitutionality. This is an exception to the rule that a trial court's judgment is presumptively valid. Moreover, all reasonable doubts as to the validity of statutes under the Constitution are to be resolved in favor of constitutionality.

In re Caldwell's Estate, 247 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1971). See State v. Slaughter, 574 So.2d 2 18, 2 19-20 (Fla. 1 DCA 1991) ("At the outset, an exception to the rule that a trial court's judgment is presumptively valid occurs when an appellate court is called upon to pass upon a statute which the trial court has declared unconstitutional. In such circumstances, the statute, rather than the trial court's ruling, is favored with a presumption of validity."). Reading <u>Caldwell</u> and <u>Slaughter</u> together, this Court must not lend a presumption of correctness to the First DCA's opinion, but interpret the statute in a constitutional manner.

B. Argument on Merits

Section 95.1 1(8) operates very narrowly--only against inmate challenges to prison disciplinary proceedings. An inmate bringing such challenge under Rule 1.630 has had an adversarial, evidentiary hearing and two plenary reviews on the merits within DOC. Therefore, the writ of mandamus being sought is quite different from a writ of mandamus historically. Under these facts, it does not violate separation of powers for the Legislature to impose a reasonable statute of limitation.

As created in 1995, \$95.1 1(8) provides:

95.11 Limitations other than for the recovery of real property.Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows:

* * * *

(8) WITHIN 30 DAYS FOR ACTIONS CHALLENGING CORRECTIONAL DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS.-Any court action challenging prisoner disciplinary proceedings conducted by the Department of Corrections pursuant to s. 944.28(2) must be commenced within 30 days after final disposition of the prisoner disciplinary proceedings through the administrative grievance process under chapter 33, Florida Administrative Code. Any action challenging prisoner disciplinary proceedings shall be barred by the court unless it is commenced within the time period provided by this section, [e.s.]

On its face, the statute is narrowly tailored. It applies only to writs or other civil actions brought by prisoners challenging DOC disciplinary proceedings.² It does not apply to writs or other actions brought by inmates for other purposes.

Moreover, the statute expressly cross-references ch. 33 of the Florida Administrative Code. That chapter ("Inmate Discipline") sets forth inmates' rights as to disciplinary proceedings, as well as the disciplinary offenses themselves (rule 33-22.012). Inmates must be notified of charges (rule 33-22.005) The conduct of disciplinary hearings is detailed (rule 33-22.006), including a provision for inmates

²As the opinion below correctly noted, changes to ch. 120, Fla. Stat., and caselaw establish that "prisoners seeking judicial review of disciplinary action taken by the Department have been limited to the extraordinary remedies set out in Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.630" (slip op., p. 3) citing Jones v. Dept. of Corrections, 615 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Although it appears inmates still may challenge disciplinary proceedings through appellate-level writs under Rule 9.100, inmates are still limited to one level writ or the other. Consequently, the majority's holding below, that §95.11(8) violates separation of powers by abridging the issuance of constitutionally authorized writs, effectively holds the statute facially unconstitutional.

to request material witnesses (rule 33-22.007(2)(b)). Significantly, two levels of plenary review on the merits--by the prison superintendent and the Secretary of DOC--are provided (rule 33-22.009).

By cross-referencing ch. 33, Florida Administrative Code, the challenged statute narrows its field of operation to inmate actions seeking judicial review of an administrative disciplinary proceeding; that is, a three-step proceeding comprised of an evidentiary hearing and two plenary reviews on the merits within DOC. Thus, §95.11(8) is narrowly tailored to a factual situation not contemplated by the historic jurisprudence of writs. No other writ can initiate plenary judicial review after an adversarial, evidentiary hearing and two administrative reviews on the merits.

A writ of certiorari to review local government administrative action does not compel plenary review. See Education Develonment Center, Inc. v. City of West

Palm Beach Zoning Bd. of Appeals, 541 So.2d 106,108 (Fla. 1989):

When the circuit court reviews the decision of an administrative agency under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(c)(3), there are three discrete components of its certiorari review.

Where a party is entitled as a matter of right to seek review in the circuit court from administrative action, the circuit court must determine whether procedural due process is accorded, whether the essential requirements of the law have been

³The provisions for administrative review do not prohibit the prison superintendent or the Secretary of DOC from reweighing the evidence.

observed, and whether the administrative findings and judgment are supported by competent substantial evidence.

In turn, the standard of review to guide the district court when it reviews the circuit court's order under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(b)(2)(B) is necessarily narrower. The standard for the district court has only two discrete components. The district court, upon review of the circuit court's judgment, then determines whether the circuit court afforded procedural due process and applied the correct law. [emphasis original; internal quotes omitted]

Again, an inmate has already enjoyed two plenary administrative reviews on the merits. If the subsequent action in the circuit court were truly a writ, the circuit court's review would be that described above. At most, the circuit court would engage in a three-pronged review, and decide whether the disciplinary action was supported by competent, substantial evidence, etc. Since an inmate would have had two plenary administrative reviews, the circuit would more properly be limited to the two-pronged review assigned to district courts. Under either alternative, however, the circuit court would not be able to treat the "writ" as a complaint and start from scratch, including new discovery and a bench trial. See Holcomb v. Department of

⁴Practically, it matters little whether an inmate's pleading is deemed to be on for writ of mandamus or for writ of certiorari. The former seeks to compel DOC compliance with the minimal due process required of prison disciplinary hearings; the latter, to correct a alleged departure from the essential requirement of law. Ironically, if inmate pleadings were treated as petitions for certiorari, this Court's long-established 30-day deadline would apply.

Corrections, 609 So.2d 75 1,753 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1992) ("Once a show cause order has' issued, it becomes in all respects the complaint and subject to the same rules of pleading as are any other complaints.").⁵

Contrast with other true writs also shows an inmate's challenge to a disciplinary proceeding is more akin to a typical civil action. The constitutional writ of habeas corpus, for example, tests the lawfulness of detention of a person who has not been tried, declared incompetent, etc. The writ of prohibition seeks to prevent an action, alleged to be outside of the challenged entity's jurisdiction, from taking place. Mandamus seeks to compel performance of a nondiscretionary duty. Quo warranto challenges the authority of an official to take a certain action, or the legal ability of someone to hold office. None of these writs are premised on a prior adversarial, evidentiary hearing followed by two plenary administrative reviews.

The quoted observation by the <u>Holcomb</u> court is crucial to DOC's argument. Although nominally writs, actions by inmates are far more akin to typical civil causes of action. The fact that the court first evaluates the "petition" for bare legal sufficiency (see *id.*, 609 So.2d at 753) presents no barrier to characterizing an inmate's writ as a civil action. It means only that the court on its own, rather than in

⁵This case began with a writ filed under Rule 1.630. DOC's logic, however, applies with equal force to writs issued by appellate courts under Rule 9.100.

response to a motion to dismiss, initially assesses the "writ" for a prima facie case. The court must still construe the writ's factual allegations liberally and take them as true. Thereafter, the "writ" is treated as a complaint, with no difference from a typical civil action. See *id.* (after show cause order issued, writ treated "in all respects" like complaint, so that respondent must "admit or deny the factual allegations" and present any affirmative defenses; and noting that all facts not specifically denied are admitted to be true). See *also*, Alexander v. Singletary, 626 So.2d 333, 334 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (when trial court summarily denied relief after considering DOC's response to the order to show cause, the posture of the case was "comparable to appellate review of an order granting DOC's motion for summary judgment").

The crucial language of Rule 1.630 speaks in terms of a "complaint" rather than a writ:

Rule 1.630. Extraordinary Remedies

(b) Initial Pleading. *The initialpleading shall be a complaint*. It shall contain:

* * *

When the *complaint* seeks a writ directed to a lower court or to a governmental or administrative agency, a copy of as much of the record as is necessary to support the plaintiffs *complaint* shall be attached.

(c) Time. A *complaint* shall be filed within the time provided by law, except that a complaint for common law certiorari shall

be filed within 30 days of rendition of the matter sought to be reviewed.

- (d) Process. If the *complaint* shows a prima facie case for relief, the court shall issue:
- (e) Response. Defendant shall respond to the writ as provided in rule 1.140 [e.s.]

The use of "complaint" is not accidental, but a deliberate recognition by this Court that trial-level writs have characteristics of civil actions. See <u>In re Amendments to Rules of Civil Procedure</u>, 458 So.2d 245, 247 (Fla. 1984) ("Rule 1.630 is entirely new. It tailors procedures related to extraordinary remedies to the trial court. It is designed to complement Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.100.").

If trial level writs were truly such, there would be no need to tailor the procedures already being used for appellate-level writs. See *also*, "*Court* Commentary" for the 1984 Amendment to Rule 1.630 (noting that rule 9.100 presumes an appellate proceeding, so that changes to rule 1.630 were made to fit trial court procedure). Also, a response is made pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.140, which establishes the procedure for answering a complaint and raising affirmative defenses. Altogether, Rule 1.630 contemplates trial-level extraordinary writs as possessing substantial attributes of a civil cause of action.

Failing to recognize this, the majority below resorted to a handful of quite old cases holding that the Legislature could not interfere with the courts' constitutional authority to issue writs. These cases all stand for the unquestioned proposition that extraordinary writs, as historically conceived, were not considered typical civil causes of action; and thus were subject to equitable doctrine of laches rather than statutes of limitation. Representative is the U.S. Supreme Court opinion quoted by the majority (slip op., p. 4): <u>U.S. ex rel Arant v. Lane</u>, 249 U.S. 367, 39 S.Ct. 293, 63 L.Ed. 650 (19 19). Decided in 1919, <u>Arant</u> involved a federal park superintendent who was removed from his job. Over a year later he sought mandamus relief. Ultimately, the Court affirmed dismissal on the basis of laches. 249 U.S. at 371, 39 S.Ct. at 294. The park superintendent, before petitioning, received no hearing, much less two plenary administrative reviews.

Several of the other cases relied on by the majority also involved classic use of writs, seeking to compel public officials to comply with the law. None of these cases involved anything comparable to inmate disciplinary proceedings at issue here. See <u>State ex rel. Haft v. Adams</u>, 238 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1970) (declining to issue mandamus as to placing candidate's names on ballot for judicial election, as petitioner waited too long under circumstances); <u>State ex rel. Perkins v. Lee</u>, 142 Fla. 154, 194 So. 3 15 (1940) (denying motion to quash petition for mandamus when

comptroller refused to pay full salary, as established by statute, to state employee); Buckwalter v. Citv of Lakeland, 112 Fla. 200, 150 So. 508 (1933) (holder of defaulting city's bond coupons seeking mandamus to compel payment from such money as city had on hand); and Tampa Waterworks Co. v. State ex rel. City of (Tampa, 77 Fla. 705, 82 So. 230 (1919) mandamus sought by city to compel water supplier to comply with city ordinance requiring disclosure of water rate payers; laches precluded relief).

Three cases relied upon below bear a closer look. In Buckwalter, the petitioner's entitlement to some relief was not seriously questioned. The city was defaulting on its bonds, It relied on a statute, probably necessitated by the collapse of the land boom or the Depression, which limited the remedies available to the courts. In essence, the statute directed that courts could compel payment only on a pro-rata basis; that is, the complaining bondholder could receive payment only in proportion to the amount of money on hand compared to the total amount of bonded indebtedness. The purpose was to avoid the unfair result when the "first-come-first-served" rule depleted the money on hand, leaving nothing for other bondholders. *Id.* at 5 10- 11. Nevertheless, the Court held that the statute was invalid, as it limited the scope of the writ of mandamus. *Id.* at 5 11-12.

Here, §95.11(8) in no way limits the court's power to effectuate any remedy. The statute simply places a time limit on an inmate's filing a petition for a writ; which writ, again, is far more akin to a typical civil complaint.

Buckwalter discussed Brinson v. Tharin, 99 Fla. 696, 127 So. 3 13 (1930). Brinson began as a civil trial over a real estate contract. Judgment was affirmed by the circuit court. After rehearing was denied, the petitioner obtained a stay of the mandate. Later a petition for certiorari was filed in this Court, but not for 48 days after the circuit court's affirmance. Tharin moved the writ be quashed, first urging that the petition was not filed within 30 days. *Id.* at 3 14-15.

Apparently, the petitioner relied on a 1920 statute which allowed appeals, albeit by certiorari, to this Court within 30 days after judgment below was rendered. The problem in <u>Brinson</u> was that the case, in substance, was not within this Court's appellate jurisdiction, and was too late for common law certiorari. To the extent the 1920 statute would allow review, this Court held the statute improperly attempted to enlarge its appellate jurisdiction. *Id.* at 3 15.

Nothing of the sort has occurred here. The circuit court's jurisdiction is not enlarged. Instead, the statute indirectly limits exercise of that jurisdiction by placing a time limit on the filing of complaints to review DOC disciplinary proceedings.

Notably, the time limit corresponds to the 30 days in which an appeal from a circuit to a district court must be noticed.

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