IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 19 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Other Depusy Clerk

HARRY K. SINGLETARY,

Appellant, :

325

V.

CASE NO. 89,3225

ROBERT E. VAN METER, JR.,:

Appellee. :

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHET KAUFMAN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 814253
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

<u>Palmer</u>, 121 So. at 466-67. The Court proceeded to resolve the merits of the petition.

In Ex parte Beattie, 98 Fla. 785, 124 So. 273 (1929), the loser in a race for sheriff, Booth, sought mandamus in the Circuit Court to compel a recount, and the winner, Beattie, claimed the writ was unavailable because the sole method to contest the election was provided by statute. After the Circuit Court issued the alternative writ, Beattie sought prohibition in this Court to prevent prosecution of the mandamus action. This Court ultimately had to determine whether the Legislature had any authority to abrogate the writ of mandamus by passing a law providing and conditioning the right to seek review of an election contest. This Court held the Legislature had no authority to interfere in any way with the judiciary's authority to issue writs of quo warranto or mandamus, although the Legislature was free to provide parties a cumulative or alternative option:

since the purpose of these writs is restricted and well understood and this court is empowered to issue them under section 5 of article 5 of the Constitution, we do not think it competent for the Legislature to change or modify the scope of either of these remedies.

Ex parte Beattie, 124 So. at 274.

This Court relied on <u>Palmer</u> and <u>Beattie</u> in <u>State ex rel.</u>

<u>Buckwalter v. City of Lakeland</u>, 112 Fla. 200, 150 So. 508 (1933), to set aside yet another legislative attempt to restrict the judiciary's exclusive mandamus authority. There, the City of Lakeland issued municipal bonds to Buckwalter and others.

Buckwalter sought to cash in 96 interest coupons he held. The

City had enough funds to pay Buckwalter, but it refused to pay because it did not have sufficient funds to pay Buckwalter and all other bondholders in full. Instead, the City wanted to pay Buckwalter only his pro rata share of the funds it had available. Buckwalter filed a petition for a writ of mandamus to compel the City to pay all he was owed. The City rested on a statute in which the Legislature restricted the authority of courts to issue mandamus relief. The statute said in relevant part:

"Section 1. In any mandamus suit brought by the owner or holder of past due bonds or interest coupons, in any court of this State, seeking to compel payment thereof from money actually on hand in the interest and sinking fund, the peremptory writ, if issued by the court, shall command the respondents to pay to relator only such pro rata portion of the moneys actually on hand in the interest and sinking fund as the relator's amount of past due bonds or interest coupons bear to the whole amount of past due bonds or interest coupons then unpaid and outstanding."

Buckwalter, 150 So. 2d at 509 (quoting Senate Bill No. 63, enacted as ch. 16075, § 1, Laws of Fla. (1933)). This Court found Buckwalter was entitled to full payment, so the question became whether the Legislature had any authority to enact a law that impaired its discretion in issuing a writ of mandamus. The Court held the Florida Constitution gave the Legislature no such authority. To the contrary, the Constitution vests full and complete authority in the courts to issue the writ of mandamus to correct abuses of government power:

Article 5, § 5, of the Constitution of Florida, provides that the Supreme Court "shall have the power to issue writs of mandamus, certiorari, prohibition, quo warranto, habeas corpus, and also all writs necessary or proper to the complete exercise of its jurisdiction."

Article 5, § 11, makes a similar grant of power to the circuit courts.

A writ of mandamus is a common-law writ used to coerce the performance of any and all official duties where the official charged by law with the performance of such duty refused or failed to perform the same; and, when the Constitution vested in the circuit courts and Supreme Court of Florida the power and authority to issue writs of mandamus, it vested therein full and complete authority to issue such writs to coerce and enforce the full and complete duty devolved by law upon any official to perform.

The provisions of Senate Bill No. 63 would curtail and limit the power of the courts to issue peremptory writs of mandamus, and in such cases by its terms would reduce the power of the court to the coercion and enforcement of only a part of the legal duty devolving upon the respondents.

The statute has not attempted to change the law as to the duty of the officials, and this court has repeatedly held that it is the duty of the proper officials in cases like the one here under consideration to pay from the fund on hand the full amount of the relator's claim as evidenced by the coupons.

In <u>Brinson v. Tharin</u>, 99 Fla. 696, 127 So. 313, 316, when we were considering the validity of a legislative act attempting to extend the scope of the writ of certiorari, and to limit the time in which it might be invoked, this court, speaking through Mr. Justice Ellis, said:

"It is only the common-law writ of certiorari which may be issued by this court to review the proceedings of the circuit court as an appellate court, and, as that power is secured by the Constitution in this court, it may not be extended, limited, nor regulated by statute. We have seen that the attempt to give it the effect of a writ of error and transferring the appellate jurisdiction of the circuit court to this court is futile. Second Weatherford Case, supra. Likewise vain is the attempt to limit the issuing of a certiorari in the matter of time to a period within thirty days after the judgment of the circuit court. Palmer v. <u>Johnson Const. Co.</u>, 97 Fla. 479, 121 So. 466.

"The writ, confined to its legitimate scope, may issue within the court's discretion at any time to correct the procedure of courts wherein they have not observed those requirements of the law which are deemed to be essential to the administration of justice. It is important, however, that the court should not broaden or extend the scope of the writ.

"A judgment void for lack of jurisdiction or a proceeding characterized by a kind of tyranny in the failure to observe essential requirements should be subject to correction at the discretion of the court vested with the power to issue the writ.

"The writ is one which issues on discretion and not as a writ of right.

Jacksonville, T.& K. W. Ry. Co. v. Boy, 34

Fla. 389, 16 So. 290; Hunt v. City of

Jacksonville, 34 Fla. 504, 16 So. 398, 43 Am.

St. Rep. 214; Holmberg v. Toomer, 78 Fla.

116, 82 So. 620; First National Bank of

Gainesville v. Gibbs, supra.

"The common-law writ of certiorari cannot be made to serve the purpose of an appellate proceeding in the nature of a writ of error. The writ involves a limited review of the proceedings of an inferior jurisdiction. It is original in the sense that the subject-matter of the suit or proceeding which it bring before the court is not here reinvestigated, tried, and determined upon the merits generally as upon appeal at law or writ of error. Basnet v. City of Jacksonville, 18 Fla. 523."

In the case of <u>Palmer v. Johnson Const. Co.</u>, 97 Fla. 479, 121 So. 466, we said:

"If Laws 1925, Extra Sess., c. 11357, creating civil courts of record, vesting circuit courts with appellate jurisdiction and providing that petition for certiorari review in Supreme Court must be filed within 30 days after rendering of judgment by circuit court, was intended to circumscribe Supreme Court's power, under Const. art. 5, § 5, to review and quash, on common-law certiorari, proceedings of inferior tribunals, at least where such proceedings

were had without jurisdiction and where no appeal or direct mode of reviewing such proceedings exist, it would be ineffectual.

"If writ of error to civil court of record was so fatally defective as to render it ineffectual as a means of invoking circuit court's appellate jurisdiction, the Supreme Court could entertain petition for certiorari under Const. art. 5, § 5, and quash judgment of circuit court in spite of fact that petition for certiorari was not filed within 30 days from rendition of such judgment, as required by Laws 1925, Extra Sess., c. 11357."

In <u>Ex parte Beattie</u>, 98 Fla. 785, 124 So. 273, we held that it is not competent for the Legislature to change or modify the scope either of quo warranto or of mandamus.

It may be said as a general rule that whatever power is conferred upon the courts by the Constitution cannot be enlarged or abridged by the Legislature.

State ex rel. Robinson v. Durand, 36 Utah, 93, 104 P.
760; 15 C. J. 731; In re Albori, 95 Cal. App. 42, 272 P. 321. This rule is also stated as follows: "The Legislature cannot lawfully interfere with the substance of the judicial power and discretion vested in the courts by the Constitution, nor hamper or hinder the free and independent exercise thereof."
See Spafford v. Brevard County, 92 Fla. 617, 110 So. 451, 453.

So it is, after considering the third objection to the validity of the legislative act, we find that in effect it says that the circuit courts and Supreme Court of the state may issue alternative writs of mandamus to coerce and enforce the performance of the full legal duty devolved upon the proper authorities of a taxing unit to pay delinquent interest coupons, or delinquent bonds, from funds on hand acquired for that purpose, but that such courts must ascertain the amount of the fund on hand and also ascertain the amount of the outstanding past-due interest coupons or bonds, for the payment of which the tax was assessed which produced that fund, and thereupon shall be limited in the issuance of the peremptory writ of mandamus to coercing and requiring the payment to the relator only such pro rata of the fund on hand as the amount of the relator's coupons or bonds bears to the aggregate amount of all unpaid coupons, or bonds, for the payment of which the assessment was made by which

the fund was produced. This is clearly contrary to the law hereinabove cited, being an attempt upon the part of the Legislature to interfere with the judicial power of the courts, and to limit the scope of the writ of mandamus.

Buckwalter, 150 So. at 511-12 (emphases supplied).

These authorities demonstrate conclusively that the Legislature cannot tell citizens how or when they can seek extraordinary relief, cannot condition their right to seek such relief, and cannot interfere with the judiciary's authority over the writ by telling courts in any respect what they can do when petitions for extraordinary relief are filed. As the District Court correctly held in the case at bar, "the effect of section 95.11(8) would be to regulate, and to limit, the power of the courts to issue such extraordinary writs," in violation of the Florida Constitution. Van Meter, 682 So. 2d at 1164. These separation of powers decisions are fully in accord with the rule that mandamus

is an extraordinary remedy, which will not be allowed in cases of doubtful right, and it is generally regarded as not embraced within statutes of limitation applicable to ordinary actions, but as subject to the equitable doctrine of laches.

State ex rel. Haft v. Adams, 238 So. 2d 843, 844 (Fla. 1970)
(quoting State ex rel. Perkins v. Lee, 142 Fla. 154, 194 So. 315,
317 (Fla. 1940)); United States ex rel. Arant v. Lane, 249 U.S.
367, 371 (1919).

The dissent and the Secretary argue that by implementing Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.630(c), this Court gave up its authority to time-bar a writ. Their position means this Court blindly wrote a blank check giving the partisan political

branches a free hand to enact a one-hour statute of limitation, or perhaps to bar the action entirely. Their reasoning also means this Court, in one fell swoop and without any explanation, did away with the equitable doctrine of laches even though laches has been applicable to mandamus since the earliest days of English common law. These results are too absurd to accept.

Their view also is undermined by separation of powers itself, for article II section 3 bars one branch of government from delegating its authority to another branch. E.g., B.H. v. State, 645 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 2559 (1995); Chiles v. Children A, B, C. D. E. & F, 589 So. 2d 260 (1991); Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1978). This doctrine prohibits the judicial branch from delegating its constitutional functions to the legislative and/or executive branches. Larson v. State, 572 So. 2d 1368, 1371 (Fla. 1991) (a court cannot delegate to a probation officer purely judicial function of revoking defendant's probation); Patterson v. State, 513 So. 2d 1257, 1261 (Fla. 1987) (judge cannot delegate to prosecutor responsibility for preparing death penalty sentencing order).

The dissent tries to neatly dispose of this constitutional principle by claiming it was not argued. 682 So. 2d at 1168. However, separation of powers was argued and it is the entire thrust of the case. The Secretary does not take the dissent's position and does not argue procedural bar, contending instead that dissent was wrong in acknowledging the nondelegation doctrine is problematic. IB19. Moreover, this case was brought

by an indigent prisoner <u>pro se</u>. The District Court did not appoint Mr. Van Meter Jr. a lawyer, who perhaps could have better articulated the position. Also, as already noted, <u>pro se</u> pleadings are entitled to a liberal reading. <u>E.g. Lewis v.</u> <u>Casey</u>, 135 L. Ed. 2d 606, 633 n.4 (1996) (Thomas, J., concurring).

The Secretary makes a couple of points requiring brief comment. He claims that because the delegation of authority took place in a court rule, the delegation "cannot violate separation of powers." IB19. In other words, this Court can't be party to violating the constitution of which it is the guardian.

Precedent, however, demonstrates the Secretary's position is erroneous. Smith v. State, 537 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1989) (this Court found its own sentencing guidelines rules unconstitutional in violation of separation of powers under article II section 3).

The Secretary also states "absent §95.11(8), there is no time limit on inmate mandamus petitions other than laches." IB23 (italics in original). The Secretary overlooks section 95.11(5)(f), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996)(effective July 1, 1996), which imposes a one-year limitation on every prisoner petition for mandamus or any other extraordinary writ in every case except where the 30-day limit applies.

Surely the people did not intend for this Court to engage in the unwise public and judicial policy of surrendering to the state's partisan political branches any of the Court's vested constitutional writ authority to oversee and correct abuses of official government power that cause injuries to the state's citizens. A statute of limitations can act -- and this one was intended to act -- as an absolute and inflexible bar to an indigent who seeks relief from such abuses. Yielding control of the writ to the very authorities who ultimately share responsibility for so much exercise of government power is contrary to the nature of the writ itself. Other statutes of limitation do not have that effect. The effect of this statute is not nearly so narrow as the Secretary would have this Court believe.

Mr. Van Meter Jr. also feels compelled to discuss the recent decision in Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 1996), which was issued after the Secretary filed his initial brief. In relevant part, that decision reaffirms that a criminal defendant has a quaranteed right under article V of the Florida Constitution to file an appeal from a judgment and/or sentence, but adds "we believe that the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights." <u>Id</u>. at 774. Applying that view, the Court found as reasonable the condition that an appellant allege prejudicial error as either a preserved or fundamental error. The Court said the Legislature could not prevent a defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere, without reservation of rights, the right to appeal subject matter jurisdiction, illegality of the sentence, failure of the government to abide by a plea agreement; and the voluntary intelligent character of the plea. The Court also found

unreasonable legislatively-imposed conditions preventing a defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere, without reservation of rights, from appealing the sentence. <u>Id</u>. at 775.

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